### No. 69300-0

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

# JASON DILLON, an individual; Plaintiff,

VS.

SEATTLE DEPOSITION REPORTERS, LLC, a Washington company; DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE, LLP, a Washington Company; JAMES GRANT and Jane Doe Grant, individually and the marital community composed thereof if any;

Defendants.

# On Appeal from King County Superior Court The Honorable Bruce Heller

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Dennis M. Moran, WSBA #19999 William A. Keller, WSBA #29361 Moran & Keller PLLC 5608 17<sup>th</sup> Ave Northwest Seattle, WA 98107 Telephone: (206) 877-4410

Facsimile: (206) 877-4410
Facsimile: (206) 877-4439
dmoran@mornakellerlaw.com

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030 is based on the State Constitutional Right to Privacy, Article 1 §7. In Washington, telephone conversations between two parties are legally presumed to be private, and the Privacy Act prohibits the recording of any and all private conversations without the consent of all the parties to the conversation. Washington is one of only 11 States with the "all party consent" rule and our Supreme Court has characterized it as one of the most restrictive, privacy protective, anti-recording statutes in the nation.

All this got tossed out the window when a guy named Jason Dillon stumbled into a clandestine recording program at the Davis, Wright, Tremaine law firm in Seattle (DWT). Mr. Dillon was a witness in a case between his former employer and a DWT client, Bellevue based TMobile. DWT asked Mr. Dillon to call into its Seattle offices for a telephonic witness interview, at a pre-arranged time. Mr. Dillon agreed, on the express condition that the DWT attorneys keep the call private and confidential. They agreed.

On August 25, 2011 at 2:14 pm, Mr. Dillon called DWT from his home in California, as requested, and over the course of an 82 minute telephone call, Mr. Dillon told the DWT attorneys about the bribery and

kickback scheme TMobile was running out of its California contracting offices in 2009 and 2010. DWT secretly recorded 76 minutes of that call and about a month later, DWT secretly recorded 44 minutes of a 46 minute follow up call. About a month after that, Mr. Dillon discovered he had been secretly recorded by reading about it on the internet. He wrote to the DWT attorneys, expressing outrage at them for breaking their promise. The lead DWT attorney, Jim Grant, wrote back to Mr. Dillon explaining that it was perfectly permissible for DWT to record the interviews because they had Mr. Dillon's "consent" to do so. When it became apparent that Mr. Dillon was not going to let the matter drop, the DWT defendants changed their story, claiming they did not need his consent because Mr. Dillon had no "expectation of privacy" in the telephone conversations.

Dillon did not let the matter drop. He sued the DWT defendants under the Privacy Act for recording the telephone conversations without his knowledge or consent. His complaint sought the specific damages specified in RCW 9.73.060 of the Privacy Act. DWT responded by claiming witness interviews are not "private conversations" and DWT had a constitutionally protected right to make clandestine recordings under the First Amendment's "right to petition."

In a stunning blow that virtually eliminates the all-party consent

rule, the King County Superior Court agreed, essentially creating a common law exception to the Privacy Act that allows attorneys in litigation to secretly record whomever they want, whenever they want, regardless of consent.

This is a common law rule of first impression and one that has devastating impacts to both personal privacy and the practice of law in Washington. Until now, no court anywhere has created a common law exception to the "all party consent" rule for witness interviews. On the contrary, two Federal Circuits have held that it is per se ethical misconduct for attorneys to secretly record witness interviews. Parrot v. Wilson, 707 F.2d 1262, 1271 (11th Cir.), cert denied, 464 U.S. 936, 104 S.Ct.344, 78 S.Ed.2d 311 (1983); Chapman & Cole v. Itel Container Int'l B.V., 865 F.2d 676, 686 (5th Cir.), cert denied, 493 U.S. 872, 110 S.Ct 201, 107 L.Ed.2d 155 (1989). Now, according to the Superior Court's ruling in this case, the all-party consent rule does not apply to attorneys and it is open season for attorneys to secretly record virtually any telephone call. Secret recording will be the rule rather than the exception. The DWT lawyers have brought the 1972 Nixon White House ethics into 2012 Seattle. They even included their own version of the 18 minute gap; the Dillon recording has a missing 6 minutes.

Attorneys and witnesses have private and non-private

conversations all the time. Whether a particular conversation is, or is not "private" is a decision for a reasonable jury based on the facts of the particular situation. Lewis v. Department of Licensing 157 Wn.2d 446, 458 (2006) (citing State v. Clark, 129 Wn.2d 211, 255 (1996)(citing Kadoranian v. Bellngham Police, 119 Wn.2d 178, 190 (1992)). the witness and the defendants expressly agreed in advance of the conversation that the telephone conversation would be private, and the plaintiff would not have consented to the interview without this express agreement with the defendants. CP 581:6-582:5. A reasonable jury could easily find from this evidence, that Mr. Dillon reasonably expected the telephone conversations to be private. Nevertheless, the Superior Court ruled that Mr. Dillon had no legal expectation of privacy, on summary judgment no less. CP 842 (p.44:6-45:10). In doing so, the Superior Court created a new, common law exception to the Privacy Act that apparently cannot be overcome even by an attorney's express agreement to keep the interview private and confidential, as was the case here.

The Superior Court created another "first" when it gave the DWT clandestine recording practice Constitutional protection merely because the attorneys intended to use it to advance their position in a private lawsuit. This was contrary to both the Privacy Act and existing anti-SLAPP law. Saldivar v. Momah, 145 Wn.App 365 387 (Div. 2 2008)

(conduct in private lawsuits within the anti-SLAPP protective umbrella because private lawsuits seek redress from a court rather than petition for official government action.) The Superior Court then levied an enormous anti-SLAPP penalty against the plaintiff for filing his RCW 9.73.060 Privacy Act claim in the first place.

#### II ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred as a matter of law in its orders of June 28 and August 17, and August 31, 2012. (CP 1130-1146) by dismissing the plaintiffs RCW 9.73.030 Privacy Act claims as a matter of on summary judgment. The trial court erroneously determined, as a matter of law on summary judgment, that the witness interviews secretly recorded by the defendants, without the plaintiff's knowledge or consent, were not "private" conversations within the scope of RCW 9.73.030 because the plaintiff had "no subjective expectation of privacy." CP 842 (p. 44:6-19, June 15, 2012 hearing transcript).
- B. The trial court erred as a matter of law by conducting the RCW 4.25.525(4)(b) anti-SLAPP hearing on June 15, 2012 in the exact opposite order of that which is specified in the statute, RCW 4.24.525 (4)(b). CP 832 (p. 4:10-20, June 15, 2012 hearing transcript). The statute requires that the trial court <u>first</u> put the defendants to their proof, to show by a preponderance of the evidence that specific claims in the complaint

(the RCW 9.73.060 Privacy Act claims) were "claim[s] based on an action involving public participation and petition" within the meaning of RCW 4.24.525(b). Only after the court finds the defendants carried this burden does the court proceed to rule on the merits of the plaintiff's claims. The trial court did not follow this procedure. The trial court created its own "hybrid" procedure that reversed the order.

C. The trial court erred as a matter of law by concluding, as a matter of law, that the plaintiff's RCW 9.73.030 and 060 Privacy Act claims were protected by anti-SLAPP set forth at RCW 4.24.525(2)(e) "lawful conduct.....in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition." The Superior Court erroneously applied the following test: "The Court needs only find that the activity that is the subject of the privacy act claim was lawful activity in connection with a judicial proceeding." CP 850 (p.77:11-15, June 15, 2012 hearing transcript).

#### III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Whether reasonable minds could conclude, from the facts in the record, that the telephonic conversations between Mr. Dillon and Mr. Grant were "private."

YES. Whether a conversation is private is a question of fact.

Lewis v. Department of Licensing 157 Wn.2d 446, 458 (2006) (citing Kadoranian v. Bellingham Police, 119 Wn.2d 178, 190 (1992).

Telephone conversations are presumed private. *State v. Modica*, 164 Wn.2d 83, 89 (2008). Here, when viewing the material facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the plaintiff under a proper CR 56 summary judgment standard, a reasonably jury could easily determine that the conversations were "private."

- B. Whether RCW 4.24.525(4)(b), the anti-SLAPP hearing statute, requires the defendants to first prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff's claims are "based on" "an action involving *public* participation and petition" before putting the plaintiff to its proof on the claims themselves.
- YES. The trial court reversed the order and did not require the defendants to carry their burden before putting the plaintiff to its proof on the merits of the Privacy Act claims.
- C. Whether, as the Superior Court held, "lawful activity in connection with a judicial proceeding" is the same as "lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition." *RCW* 4.24.525(2)(e). (Emphasis added).
- NO. The phrase in the anti-SLAPP statute "constitutional right to petition" refers only to the US Constitutional First Amendment prohibition against Congress abridging the public right "to petition the Government for a redress of grievances." It protects the right to petition the government

for official government action. Lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the "constitutional right to petition" means things like the act of throwing medals at the capitol, or the act of marching in a protest parade or the act of burning a flag to petition official Government conduct. A civil lawsuit seeking private relief from a court is not within the umbrella of anti-SLAPP because a lawsuit for *private* relief from a court is not First Amendment *public petition* seeking official governmental action. Saldivar v. Momah, 145 Wn.App 365, 387 (Div. 2 2008). Secretly recording phone calls may be an act designed to get ahead in litigation, but it is not one in furtherance of the "constitutional right of petition." RCW 4.24.525(2)(e).

### IV STATEMENT OF CASE

- A. Facts in the court record relevant to the issues on appeal.
- 1. The two August 25, 2011 conversations.

On the morning of August 25, 2011 Seattle based DWT attorney Kennan called Mr. Dillon at his home in California to discuss a case that was in litigation. *CP 312:22-315:21 (Dillon 2/14/2012 sworn testimony)*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also, (unpublished), Townsend v. WSDOT, 2012 Lexis 2221 (Div.2, Sept 2012)("The filing of a lawsuit does not constitute protected communication under the anti-SLAPP statute because "a plaintiff who brings a private lawsuit for private relief is not seeking official government action, but rather redress from the court." (Citing Saldivar, 145 Wn.App. at 387).

Mr. Dillon had recently quit his job at Netlogix and was angry with his former boss and the company, which was adverse to DWT's client (TMobile) in a contract dispute. *Id.* During this first conversation, Ms. Kennan tried to wind up Mr. Dillon against his former boss by telling him nasty things about his former boss, Scott Akrie. *Id.* The defendants *apparently* did not record this call. *CP 315:24-316:25.* Kennan used it to set up a second call, which was the one the defendants intended to secretly record. Keenan did not tell Mr. Dillon that she intended to record the second call, however. In fact, Mr. Dillon expressly conditioned his participation in the second phone call on Ms. Keenan's promise that the conversation be "informal" and would be kept "private and confidential." *CP 319:15-22.* Mr. Dillon explained this in detail in the sworn declaration submitted to the trial court on summary judgment:

"When I was contacted by Ms. Keenan by telephone in August, I specifically told her I did not want anything I told them in the telephone conversations to be part of the public record because I was afraid of any repercussions about what we discussed...Ms. Keenan informed me that my telephone calls would remain private and confidential, and she acknowledged my concerns about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff is not aware of a recording of the recording of the first call (CP 319 10-14) but given the fact that the DWT lawyers Grant and Keenan admittedly lied in a sworn declaration stating that "no audiotape or audio recording of any kind was made of either calls" (CP 324:17-325:19), a lie Ms. Keenan at least admitted (CP 635:25-636:4), we really don't know because the defendants have never been subject to deposition nor have they responded to any of the outstanding discovery on these points.

the information I would provide being used against me in a future proceeding. That is why I agreed to continue speaking with them."

Dillon Declaration, CP 581:6-18.

The DWT lawyers agreed to Mr. Dillon's conditions, as Mr. Dillon explained in his declaration:

"Once we had agreed that my conversations with Mr. Grant and Ms. Keenan would not be made public, we agreed to a time for me to call Ms. Keenan and Mr. Grant to discuss the facts of the Netlogix breach of contract case. After Grant and Keeenan agreed to keep our future conversations private and confidential, they set up a conference call to occur on August 25, 2011. I expected that the phone call between Mr. Grant, Ms. Keenan and myself would remain private. I never expected that it would be recorded.....I was never told that the conversation was being recorded verbatim, nor would I have ever agreed to provide a recorded statement without the benefit of counsel..."

Dillon Declaration, CP 581:19-582:4.

Based upon these expressed assurances, Mr. Dillon called in from California to the DWT offices at the appointed time, 2:14 p.m. *CP 585*. His call was switched to a conference room and put on speaker phone. *CP 648:7-11(Recorded August 25, 2011 call)*. Ms. Kennan started out the call by putting Mr. Dillon at ease in the beginning, unrecorded part of the conversation and continued into the recorded portion, underscoring the informality by asking Mr. Dillon about how his job interview went. *CP 648:5-7*. Then Mr. Grant told Mr. Dillon that Grant's "assistant Thad"

was also in the room at DWT, just "writing stuff down" so that Mr. Grant and Ms. Keenan "don't have to worry about taking notes while were talking to you." *CP 648:12-14*.

This statement by Mr. Grant was cleverly misleading. "Thad" was not Mr. Grant's "assistant," he was certified Court Reporter Thad Byrd, an employee of Seattle Deposition reporters. *CP 626*. "Thad" was not just "writing stuff down, "in the sense that he was taking notes (which would be consistent with the promise to keep the conversation private), he was recording the conversation verbatim with his stenographic recording machine and a tape recorder. The very fact that Grant tried to mislead Dillon, shows that *Grant knew* that Mr. Dillon believed the conversation was private, and *Grant knew* that Dillon would hang up if he thought the call was being recorded. Further, the mere reference to "Thad" shows that Grant was trying to fabricate some kind of plausible "consent" defense if he got caught. (RCW 9.73.030(b)). ("Consent" must include both a statement in the recording that the conversation is being recorded, and the statements of consent by all parties). <sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Indeed, when the storm broke on October 8, 2012 and Dillon discovered he had been secretly recorded, Grant did, in fact, claim "consent." *CP 629* (Email from Grant to Dillon). Grant later abandoned this frivolous claim because the alleged "consent" was obviously obtained through fraud, by Grant lying to Dillon about who "Thad" was.

According to Keenan, shortly after DWT started recording the call with the transcription machine, they noticed that the Thad was also recording the call with a tape recorder. Though Keenan and Grant initially denied this fact in sworn declarations, about three months later they admitted it once evidence of the tape recording was about to come out publicly. Further, Keenan claim in her second, revised, sworn version of events, that when she and Grant saw the dictaphone recording the call on tape, Grant immediately instructed Thad to turn it off and erase it. *CP* 635-636.

[Keenan] "2. In my prior declaration, referring to the two interview calls with Mr. Jason Dillon, I stated that "[n]o audiotape or audio recording of any kind was made of either call." As explained by my partner James C. Grant in his supplemental declaration, in the August 25, 2011 call, the court reporter used a dictaphone during the first few minutes of the call, until Mr. Grant noticed this, and instructed the reporter not o audiotape the call and to erase the tape."

CP 635:25-636:4 (Keenan second sworn declaration dated January 11, 2012).4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Curiously, the instruction Grant gave to Thad, to turn off the tape recorder and erase the tape, seems to have been erased from the final recording. Maybe it was in the missing 6 minutes? Maybe Grant took it out when he edited the recording? Plaintiff was not able to investigate this because DWT and Seattle Deposition Reporters refused to respond to discovery and the Superior Court stayed the plaintiff's motion to compel, pending the anti-SLAPP hearing. *CP* 464-471.

If, during the phone call on August 25 Keenan and Grant subjectively believed the conversation was not private, thus it was ok to record, then why did Grant tell the Thad to turn off the tape? Was it to save on the DWT electricity bill? If they thought it was ok to record because the conversation was not private, as they now claim, then why did they feel the need to lie in their earlier sworn declarations, by denying it was tape recorded? Why did Grant tell Thad to erase the tape? The answers are fairly clear: Both Keenan and Grant knew they were having a private conversation with Dillon; they knew it was illegal to tape record it without Dillon's consent and they thought that if they admitted that any part of the conversation was tape recorded that they would be admitting a violation of RCW 9.73.030. They both showed conscious acknowledgement of guilt by lying and erasing evidence to cover up what they thought was a crime. <sup>5</sup>

The recording went on to capture Mr. Dillon's reiteration of his concerns that his former employer or TMobile might come after him, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For whatever reason, they apparently thought at the time of the conversation, that a transcription machine recording was not covered by the Privacy Act. This conduct, however, shows that they were acutely, subjectively, aware that they should not have been recording the conversation with a tape recorder, *ipso facto* they were subjectively aware that the conversation was "private."

his desire that nobody even know he was talking to Grant and Keenan at all, at least for the time being.

[Dillon to Grant]...I wanted to talk to you guys just briefly and let you know I wasn't with Netlogix, and I wanted,--you know, I wanted to talk to you guys kind of about, you know, some things that had happened while we worked on the contract kind of going back from the beginning. You know, my only concern is I just need to make sure that I'm protected as well if Scott tries to come after me, or I don't want you guys trying to come after me or T-Mobile. I want to make sure I'm protecting myself, but I did want to speak with you guys. ...

CP 649:10-20.

[Grant to Dillon] Okay, understood. At this time, we just want to hear what you have to say<sup>6</sup>....

CP 650:5-6.

[Dillon to Grant]...you know, I just want to make sure—you know, I don't know exactly where this is going to go with Scott [Akrie,-Dillon's former boss]. You know, he owes me some money from back pay. And if he knows I'm talking to you guys, right away of course, he's going to not give me any money at all, so that's a concern."

CP 653:3-8.

...[Grant to Dillon]...I can't represent—my firm can't represent somebody who's adverse as a witness on the other side. But as I said at the outset, there's nothing wrong with us talking with each other. It kind of depends upon what all you have to say...

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Grant fails to tell Dillon that he is also recording the conversation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Again, Grant keeps up the deception and chooses not to tell Dillon that he also recording him.

CP 653:18-22.

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