No. 69300-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JASON DILLON, an individual,

Appellant,

V.

SEATTLE DEPOSITION REPORTERS, LLC, a Washington company; DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE, LLP, a Washington company; JAMES GRANT and JANE DOE GRANT, individually and the marital community composed thereof, if any;

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL LLP Ralph E. Cromwell, Jr., WSBA #11784 Jofrey M. McWilliam, WSBA #28441 38th Floor 1000 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-2000

Attorneys for Respondents

ORIGINAL

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

III. ARGUMENT

- A. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Dillon's Privacy Act Claims on Summary Judgment.
 - 1. The Trial Court Properly Ruled That Dillon's Privacy
 Act Claim Failed as a Matter of Law.
 - a. RCW 9.73 Only Prohibits the Recording of "Private" Conversations.

All of Dillon's claims in this action were asserted under Washington's Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030. It is settled law in Washington that the protections of RCW 9.73.030 "apply only to *private* communications or conversations." *State v. Clark*, 129 Wn.2d 211, 224,

916 P.2d 384 (1996). Whether a particular communication is private "may be decided as a question of law where the facts are undisputed." *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d at 192. Here, based on the undisputed statements made by Dillon during the witness interviews, no reasonable trier of fact could find that the interviews were "private" communications, and the trial court correctly so held. In doing so, the trial court did not create any "common-law exception" to RCW 9.73.030, but rather applied the well-established principle that non-private communications are not encompassed within the statute.

A conversation or communication is "private" under

RCW 9.73.030 only if it is intended to be "secret," where the information imparted is "intended only for the persons involved" in the conversation, or where a "secret message" is communicated. *State v. Townsend*, 147

Wn.2d 666, 673, 57 P.3d 255 (2002). The plaintiff must prove both that

(1) the parties *manifested* a subjective intention that the communication be private, and (2) that the expectation of privacy is reasonable. *State v. Modica*, 164 Wn.2d 83, 88, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008). In particular, "[b]ecause any [party] will contend that his or her conversation was intended to be private," the reasonableness of the expectation is measured against objective factors such as duration and subject matter of the conversation, the location and presence of third parties, and the role of the

non-consenting party and his relationship to the consenting party. *Clark*, 129 Wn.2d at 225.

Thus, "[a] person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in a conversation that takes place at a meeting where one who attended could reveal what transpired to others." *Id.* at 226. For example, where a private investment club kept minutes of its meetings and a member of the club secretly tape recorded one of the meetings, the court held there was no violation of RCW 9.73.030 as a matter of law because all participants in the meetings knew that minutes were kept which summarized the meetings and which were available to others. *See State v. Slemmer*, 48 Wn. App. 48, 52, 736 P.2d 281 (1987). Likewise, witness interviews relating to public judicial proceedings are not private where the witness is aware that the statements may be used in court. *State v. Mankin*, 158 Wn. App. 111, 118-19, 241 P.3d 421 (2010), *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1003, 249 P.3d 182 (2011). This is true even where counsel's interview notes would not have to be disclosed during pretrial discovery. *See id.* at 118.

b. The Trial Court Should Be Affirmed That the Undisputed Facts Show the Interviews Were Not Private Conversations.

Here, the relevant facts are undisputed in that Dillon admitted under oath in the Federal Action that the verbatim notes taken were accurate and complete. See CP 252:10-12; CP 252:25-CP 253:22. Based on the

undisputed notes of Dillon's witness interviews, Judge Heller's rulings that Dillon did not manifest an expectation of privacy and that any such expectation would be objectively unreasonable were correct and should be affirmed.

First, there is no way to interpret the statements made by Dillon himself during the witness interviews as manifesting an intention or expectation that the interviews would be kept secret and confidential. Dillon voluntarily approached Grant and Kennan, who were strangers, with the stated purpose of providing information that they could use in the Federal Action. He said in his email that he wanted to "talk about the facts in this case" and that doing so would be "beneficial to T-Mobile/DWT." CP 175. Likewise, at the outset of the first interview on August 25, Dillon reiterated he wanted to talk with Grant and Kennan in order to give "you [] guys the information you need" that "would be beneficial to resolve this thing pretty quickly." CP 205 at 3:22-4:1 (emphasis added). There is no way to volunteer beneficial information to the attorney for an adverse party to resolve a case if the information is secret and cannot be used.

During the interview, Dillon likewise repeatedly manifested an understanding that the information he gave would be revealed to NetLogix and its attorneys. In particular, he specifically asked that the Respondents "wait to even speak with Scott's [NetLogix's] attorneys, and tell them next

week" about what Dillon had said so that he could collect money he expected NetLogix would pay him. CP 213-14 at 36:25-37:3. Dillon also expressly agreed to give a written declaration summarizing his statements for use in the Federal Action. CP 213 at 36:25-37:1. Again, there is no objectively reasonable meaning that can be given to this request to briefly delay talking to opposing counsel and Dillon's expressed willingness to sign a declaration other than that Dillon expected that content of the witness interviews would be used in the Federal Action rather than being kept secret.

Nor did Dillon himself treat the information that he was providing as "private" or "secret." Rather, he told Grant and Kennan that he had spoken to his "entire team" about his intent to tell Grant and Kennan the real facts about the case, and that his entire team was "all on board" with likewise talking to Grant and Kennan "and giving you [] guys the information you need" to resolve the case. CP 205 at 3:24-25. In addition to speaking with his "entire team," prior to speaking with T-Mobile's counsel, "Dillon informed Akrie of his intention to do so" and after speaking with T-Mobile's counsel, "Dillon informed Akrie not only that he had done so, but also that Defendant's counsel had asked him to sign the declaration." CP 87:6-11. Indeed, Dillon then telephoned Akrie to discuss the witness interviews and the draft declaration with him. CP 448 ¶ 4.

Finally, as Judge Heller noted, during the course of the interviews

Dillon never "manifested" any request for or expectation of privacy. For example, Dillon did not make any statements during the interview about an expectation of privacy. *E.g.*, CP 205, 221, 224. Indeed, rather than manifesting an expectation that the interviews be secret and limited to the participants, Dillon agreed to note taking, volunteered that the interviews would be used by Grant to "resolve" the litigation, would be shared with counsel for NetLogix, would be put in a declaration, and already had been shared by Dillon with numerous NetLogix employees. This is the opposite of a secret or private conversation. Indeed, as Judge Martinez observed, Dillon's scheme to leverage Akrie for money would have been ineffective if the information Dillon provided had been kept secret. The whole point of Dillon's scheme was to make sure that NetLogix knew he was talking to T-Mobile's attorneys, who undoubtedly would use the information, so that NetLogix or Akrie would pay him to stop and recant his statements.

In addition, as the trial court here held on reconsideration, because the undisputed transcript shows that Dillon knew he was talking to opposing counsel and agreed that his interviews would be taken down in notes conveyed to others and used in court, any expectation that Dillon had that his statements would be kept a secret is simply not objectively reasonable. *See Slemmer*, 48 Wn. App. at 52 (meeting not private where all participants knew that minutes were kept which summarized the meetings and which were

Accordingly, and as a matter of law, Dillon could not have had any reasonable expectation that the interviews were private. Moreover, the facts on this point – that Dillon knowingly confessed a massive fraud to the lawyers for the victim – are undisputed and do not depend on Dillon's alleged expectation that his statements would not be kept private.

3. <u>Dillon Relies Heavily on a Declaration That He</u> <u>Contradicted in Testimony and Which Judge Martinez</u> Found to Be Untruthful.

Dillon does not directly dispute any of the foregoing or deny the accuracy of the statements made in the transcripts of the witness interviews.

Instead, Dillon points to other evidence which he claims is contradictory and creates a triable issue of fact.

First, although he barely mentioned it in the trial court, Dillon relies heavily on a declaration he filed in the Federal Action to defeat T-Mobile's sanctions motion. In that declaration, quoted at pages 9-10 of his brief, Dillon states that he had a subjective expectation of privacy based on assurances from T-Mobile's attorneys that the interviews would be private, confidential, and not part of the public record. *See* CP 580-83. This declaration was, in part, the reason Judge Martinez ordered an evidentiary hearing wherein Dillon testified.

However, in the evidentiary hearing, when pressed specifically as to whether DWT had assured him that the interviews would be private and

confidential, Dillon said something different. He testified that Respondents "never mentioned that," but instead agreed only that the interview would be informal and that Dillon would have an opportunity to talk to an attorney before giving a declaration or deposition:

- Q. She [DWT attorney Keenan] says in her next declaration, in her next paragraph of her declaration that she never told you that either call would be private or confidential?
- A. She never mentioned that. I made it very clear that I did not want to do anything formal. If I did, I needed an attorney, and they needed to take my deposition or declaration.

CP 319:15-21.1

Agreeing that a discussion will be informal suggests that one may not be exacting about the choice of words or details, but says nothing about whether you expect to have a secret or a private conversation. Many informal conversations—meeting someone in a bar, talking to the person next to you at a sports event, asking a stranger for directions—are informal but not at all secret or private. Here, it is undisputed that Dillon himself told numerous others about his informal discussions with defendants and, in fact, solicited his co-workers to likewise talk to DWT/Grant about the truth. Thus, regardless of whether these discussions were formal or informal, they were

-

¹ Elsewhere, Dillon dodged questions about the specifics of his discussions with Grant/DWT by saying "I don't know word for word what I said," CP 252:4-5; that "I do not recall what they (Grant/DWT) said," CP 254:1; and "I can't go back and tell you what I was thinking at that time," CP 275:12-13.

not private. Dillon is not entitled to defeat summary judgment by relying on a conclusory declaration that is contrary to his sworn testimony before Judge Martinez, contrary to his own actions in telling others about the witness interviews, and contrary to the undisputed transcript of his own statements to defendants. *See, e.g., Cornish Coll. of the Arts v. 1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 227, 242 P.3d 1 (2010) (cannot create triable issue by submitting a declaration which contradicts prior sworn testimony).

Moreover, Judge Martinez specifically found that the declarations

Dillon submitted in the Federal Action were lies, holding that the evidentiary record "already reflects that Dillon has deliberately and repeatedly lied both to Defendants' counsel and the Court in the form of informal communications, *sworn declarations*, and in-court testimony." CP 168:13-15 (emphasis added). Dillon cannot create an issue of fact in this proceeding based on declarations from another proceeding that have been rejected by that court as false.

4. T-Mobile's Assertion of a Work Product Privilege for the Verbatim Notes Says Nothing About Whether the Subject Matter of the Notes Was Private or Public.

Dillon also argues that Grant/DWT must have considered the interviews private because T-Mobile asserted a work product privilege over the verbatim notes of the two witness interviews in the Federal Action.

However, this argument confuses an attorney's notes or impressions of an

event, which are protected, with the event itself which may be very public. A simple example demonstrates the point: if an attorney went to a meeting where a potential witness was speaking to a large, public audience, any notes that the attorney took, including verbatim notes of the witness' public statements, would be protected by the work-product doctrine even though the subject matter of the notes are clearly public and not private.

Similarly, here, that T-Mobile asserted that notes taken by its attorneys of an interview were work product, says nothing about whether the subject of the notes—Dillon's communications and the parties' reasonable expectations about them – were or were not private. Dillon's argument to the contrary simply confuses the attorney's notes about the event with the underlying event itself.

5. <u>Dillon's Speculation About Grant's Motivations Does</u> **Not Change the Outcome**.

Dillon argues that Grant did not tell him that the witness interviews were being "recorded" and lied about "Thad" being Grant's "assistant."

Appellant's Br. at 28. From the premise that Grant was not forthright, Dillon then speculates that Grant must have known Dillon believed the conversations were private, and thus must have concluded that if he had been more forthright, Dillon would stop talking. *See id.*

However, Respondent Grant's motivations or beliefs about Dillon's

possible reaction to being told different information is pure speculation that is insufficient to raise any material issue of fact. *Roger Crane & Assocs. v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 779, 875 P.2d 705 (1994). Moreover, the legal standard for privacy focuses on the parties' objective manifestations, not on their unexpressed motivations. Here, the objective manifestations of the parties' expectations make clear that Dillon contemplated that the information he provided would not be kept private. Argumentative speculation about what Respondent might have been thinking does not change that undisputed fact.

6. Whether It Is Reasonable to Believe an Attorney Would Not Lie to You Has Little to Do with Whether a Discussion with the Attorney Is Private.

Dillon argues at various points that it is professional misconduct for an attorney to make a "clandestine recording" of a witness interview and that it is unethical for an attorney to lie to a witness. From this premise, Dillon concludes that everyone reasonably believes that all discussions with attorneys are private unless otherwise stated.

First, civil liability cannot be premised upon a violation of ethical rules. *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 261, 830 P.2d 646 (1992). Moreover, whether it is reasonable to expect that an attorney will tell you that verbatim notes are being made of a discussion has no direct bearing on whether the discussion is private. If Dillon gave an identical interview to

Respondents with the only difference being no note taking, his offers to help resolve the case, to sign a declaration, and his reporting the conversation to others, would still mean the discussion was not private, even though no note taking occurred. In short, any alleged ethical breach regarding the failure to disclose "verbatim" note taking (as opposed to just note taking) says nothing about whether Dillon's voluntary confessions of a fraud to the lawyers for the victim were private under RCW 9.73.

7. <u>Dillon's Alleged Discovery of a Missing Six Minutes</u> Proves Nothing.

Dillon raises for the first time on appeal a supposed "missing six minutes" from the August 25, 2011, "recording" of Dillon's interview.

Referencing the Nixon White House, Dillon then speculates about what might be on the supposed missing six minutes. However, this theory is based on incorrect math. When added up, the phone records on which he relies, and the length of the transcript, are virtually identical. Dillon's math is just wrong. *See* Appellant's Br. at 16 (2:15 p.m. to 3:36 p.m. is 81 minutes, not 76).

Moreover, Dillon did not argue to the trial court that any material portion of the transcript was missing, and he should not be allowed to raise this issue for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5. In addition, Dillon himself testified under oath in the Federal Action that the transcripts of his witness

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